FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 11/25/2020 4:46 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/30/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99264-9

Court of Appeal Cause No. 53317-1-II

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEREMY VAHLE, an individual, Appellant

v.

CITY OF LAKEWOOD, a municipal corporation, Respondent

## JEREMY VAHLE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOAN K. MELL, WSBA # 21319
III BRANCHES LAW, PLLC
1019 Regents Blvd. Ste. 204
Fircrest, WA 98466
253-566-2510
Joan@3brancheslaw.com
Attorney for Jeremy Vahle, Petitioner

# **

#### A. Identity of Petitioner

Petitioner Jeremy Vahle asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

#### B. Court of Appeals Decision

Division II, Court of Appeals October 27, 2020 unpublished opinion Case No. 53317-1-II. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A- 1 through 32.

#### C. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. **Rule of Five Not Unassailable.** Did the Supreme Court in Seattle Police Officer's Guild v. City of Seattle, 151 Wn. 2d 823, 92 P.3d 243 (2004) foreclose all challenges to promotions that use Rule of Five?
- 2. **State Repeal of Merit Standards.** Should the Supreme Court clarify Rule of Five as set forth in *Seattle Police Officer Guild v. City of Seattle*, 151 Wn. 2d 823, 92 P.3d 243 (2004) is not unassailable since the Legislature repealed specific merit standards at the State level that supported the court's rationale, but has not repealed Rule of One for local police, and because the City of Lakewood uses a short list unlike Seattle such that Rule of Five does not operate in fact as a merit standard for promotions in Lakewood?
- Lakewood Municipal Code 2.10.090 Required Rule of Three, Not Five. Was Lakewood's Chief obligated to use Rule of Three

as specified in Lakewood's code when it was the only Legislative authority setting merit standards?

- 4. **Merit Standards Non-delegable, Non-Negotiable.** Is Rule of 1, 3, or 5 a substantive merit standard that must be legislatively mandated or a promotional procedural option that may be delegated to a Civil Service Commission to promulgate by rule or not at its discretion?
- 5. Rule of 5 Not A Mandatory Subject of Collective Bargaining. Are substantive merit standards like Rule of Five a mandatory subject of collective bargaining?
- 6. **Nexus Between Rule of Five and 25%.** Is Rule of Five unassailable even if the small number of eligible candidates meant the Chief had unlimited discretion to choose his favorites from more than 25% of the potential candidates all of whom he knew personally even though Division II in *Seattle Police Officer's Guild* voided use of 25% as too much discretion to meet merit standards?
- 7. Contractual Promise to Promote Based on Merit. Does a civil servant have a breach of contract remedy where a City's Police Chief fails to promote based on merit as required by civil service statute and local ordinance?
- 8. **Veteran's Preference Miscalculated.** Did the City of Lakewood fail to properly calculate Officer Vahle's veteran's preference?

- 9. Civil Servants Entitled to Judicial Relief without Exhausting Administrative Remedies. Do civil servants have the right to sue in contract or tort without exhausting administrative remedies to enforce their statutory rights? If not, did Officer Vahle adequately exhaust his administrative remedies when he sought and was refused relief from both the Civil Service Commission and Council?
- 10. Chief's Rationale For Denying Promotion Prohibited.

  Did the Chief fail to promote Officer Vahle for impermissible reasons such that Officer Vahle has met his standard of proof on proximate cause?
- 11. **Attorney's Fees.** Did the court improperly deny attorney's fees and costs to Officer Vahle at the trial level and on appeal?

#### D. Statement of the Case

Petitioner Officer Vahle seeks Supreme Court review of the Division II ruling that leaves him without redress. Having been denied access to the courts to enforce his statutory rights, he remains at risk out on patrol without any leadership support and without hope of promotion because the Chief has effectively blacklisted him for his protected activities.

Officer Vahle engaged in various protected activities during his tenure that subjected him to scrutiny, and put him at odds with the administration for advocating for those who were disenfranchised or otherwise in conflict with the direction of the Chief.<sup>1</sup> Officer Vahle's protected activities included filing this declaratory action and seeking redress, uncovering police corruption, acting as a supporting witness to officers claiming discrimination, testing the validity of the absence of a shoe allowance by wearing pink converse sneakers on duty, and advocating for fellow officers as the Guild President.<sup>2</sup> Division II presented the facts of his protected activities in the light most favorable to the City, not Officer Vahle as required on summary judgment.<sup>3</sup>

Officer Vahle sought promotion to Sergeant without success.<sup>4</sup> He applied more than once, undertaking a grueling qualification process that included written and oral testing.<sup>5</sup> He ranked in the top tier with only one other applicant besting his scores.<sup>6</sup> His veteran's preference was not properly calculated.<sup>7</sup> Despite his high rank, Chief Zaro bypassed him for promotion several times admittedly for reasons specific to his protected activities.<sup>8</sup> Chief Zaro criticized Officer Vahle as someone who did not

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Op 6.; CP 327-328 (Vahle Dec.) and CP 827 -830 (Vahle Dec.) CP 366-7 (Zaro Dep.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Id. CP 331 (Officer Vahle testified in opposition to Ordinance 674); CP 497-498; See City of Bremerton v. Widell, 146 Wn.2d 561, 51 P.3d 733 (2002)(Constitutional protection for redress).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For example, Division II points to findings from a whistleblower investigative report finding no retaliation, but documenting Zaro based his decision not to promote on protected activities. CP 827. Also, compare CP 826 to Op. at 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Op. 5. CP 829-830.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Op. 3 and 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Op. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP 330 (Vahle Dec.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Op. 6, CP 510 (Pandrea testimony regarding Zaro expiring the eligibility list to bypass Vahle); CP 562, 569, 575. CP 329.

know how to pick the right battles.<sup>9</sup> Zaro said about Vahle that "once a whistleblower, always a whistleblower" when acknowledging Officer Vahle endured departmental scrutiny from the Chief's leadership team for pointing out police corruption.<sup>10</sup>

Officer Vahle questioned whether he had grounds to challenge the Chief's failure to promote him. He discovered Lakewood's code mandated merit promotions using Rule of Three or the top 15% of eligible candidates. Chief Zaro repeatedly used Rule of Five, which Lakewood justified as valid under case authority upholding Rule of Five. Officer Vahle recognized that authority was not on point to his circumstance where Lakewood certified such a short list of candidates that Chief Zaro was able to pick his favorite because he knew them all, and Rule of Five afforded him discretion among more than 25% of eligible candidates. A seminal case, *Seattle Police Officer's Guild v. City of Seattle*, held that selection among more than 25% of eligible candidates afforded a Chief too much discretion and was unenforceable. Officer Vahle knew Chief Zaro was choosing from well over 25% of eligible

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP 377-78 (Zaro Dep.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP 394 – 396 (Zaro Dep.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Op. 9; App. B (CP 486 – 489 Ordinance 674); CP 330 (Vahle Dec.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Op. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP 826 (Vahle Dec.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Seattle Police Officer's Guild v. City of Seattle, 113 Wn. App. 431, 53 P.2d 1036 (2002).

candidates when local ordinance dictated 15%.<sup>15</sup> Officer Vahle also recognized that while he was not promised promotion if he ranked first in testing, Officer Vahle reasonably believed that Chief Zaro could not bypass him for his protected activities.<sup>16</sup> He did not believe he was risking the opportunity to promote when speaking out nor when seeking redress.<sup>17</sup>

On October 30, 2017, Officer Vahle filed suit in Pierce County Superior Court. 18 His causes of action were declaratory relief under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, Breach of Contract, Promissory Estoppel, and Negligence. 19 The trial court admitted the civil service issues were unfamiliar and complex. 20 The Court dismissed all claims so that the appellate courts could sort out the liabilities. 21 On October 27, 2020, Division II entered its opinion without hearing the case. 22 Division II upheld the trial court's order of dismissal on all claims. In its opinion, Division II decided Rule of Five was unassailable and that a police Chief's decision may not be questioned even if the rationale contravenes express public policy. This means that Chief Zaro may continue to promote his favorites, like his fellow defendant and SWAT team colleague Sergeant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> App. B: Ordinance 674; See, former LMC 2.10.090.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CP 329-30, 827 (Vahle Dec.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP 327 (Vahle Dec.).

<sup>18</sup> CP 1-19 (Complaint).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Id. 16-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> RP 03/15/19 at 4, 38-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> RP 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Op.

Markert.<sup>23</sup> Chief Zaro and Sergeant Markert were found by a judge and jury to have used excessive force and were deliberately indifferent to the life of Mr. Thomas who the SWAT team under Chief Zaro's direction executed while Mr. Thomas held his son in his arms.<sup>24</sup> Neither Zaro nor Markert received any discipline for their constitutional violations.<sup>25</sup> When Officer Vahle pointed out the absence of merit promotions to include the conflict between local ordinance and the Civil Service Commission rules, Lakewood's Council chose to give more deference to its Civil Service Commission by repealing the merit standards from its Ordinance and delegating merit standards to the Commission.<sup>26</sup> Lakewood took no corrective action to reign in the Chief's discretion.<sup>27</sup> Chief Zaro may continue to bypass Officer Vahle who is a trustworthy officer who has never used excessive force nor endangered the public.<sup>28</sup>

#### E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

#### 1. Summary

The Supreme Court should accept review because Officer Vahle identified conflicting merit standards that Lakewood chose not to correct.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> CP 329, 828-830 (Vahle Dec.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> CP 350; *Thomas v. Cannon*, ECF 3/15-05346 BJR, 3:16-cv-05392 289 F. Supp. 3d 1182 (2018).

https://patch.com/washington/lakewood-jblm/lakewood-police-respond-15m-leonard-thomas-killing-verdict: "...being portrayed 4 years later as lying, racist murderers. The fact that 7 jurors believed that portrayal is both incomprehensible and demoralizing."

26 Op. 4-5; CP 330-31 (Vahle Dec.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Op. 8, CP 331, 833 (Vahle Dec.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> CP 351 (Zaro Dep.).

but rather repealed. Lakewood's delegation of merit standards to its Civil Service Commission without any legislative perimeters or corrective oversight where the Chief hired his favorites, including one found to have used excessive force like Zaro, and bypassed Officer Vahle, who has never used excessive force compromises public safety and squelches free speech and redress.

#### DIVISION II DECISION CONFLICTS WITH SEATTLE CASE

# 2. Rule of Five Subject to Judicial Challenge

In 2004, the Supreme Court issued its opinion in *Seattle Police Officers Guild v. City of Seattle* upholding Seattle Police Department's Rule of Five merit standard without reversing the Division II decision that selection from 25% of eligible candidates is not merit selection.<sup>29</sup> In the Seattle situation, Rule of Five as applied to a long list of eligible candidates resulted in promotions from less than 25% of qualified officers. Division II over sells this Court's holding in *Seattle Police Officers Guild* when deciding in effect Rule of Five is unassailable. The Supreme Court never decided Rule of Five promotions were unchallengeable. In fact, the Court pointed out that favoritism was not at issue in that case.<sup>30</sup> Here, favoritism is at issue and there was no clear legislative authority to use

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Seattle Police Officer's Guild v. City of Seattle, 151 Wn. 2d 823, 839, 92 P.3d 243 (2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Seattle Police Officer's Guild, 151 Wn. 2d at 834-5 and fint. 12.

Rule of Five. The various principles governing merit must be considered collectively, not in isolation, otherwise merit promotions may be wholly dispensed with by local police departments like Lakewood that certify short candidate lists and otherwise undertake no oversight of the Chief's decision making or that of its Commission. The Supreme Court should accept review here to clarify cities may not blindly let their Chiefs use Rule of Five to bypass qualified applicants for impermissible reasons that defy merit standards. Lakewood citizens deserve command staff like Officer Vahle who are unafraid to question the status quo. Division II used an analysis of the Supreme court's decision that is flawed that will deter others from coming forward for fear they will never promote

## a. Rule of One Controlling Legislative Authority

Division II erred when citing the State's repeal of its merit selection standards, former RCW 41.06.150(2) (1999), as grounds for broader discretion for local police chiefs. The Legislature repealed state merit selection standards by eliminating the statutory criteria of Rule of Six, and there are no statutory merit selection standards now used in State government. At the same time, the Legislature chose not to repeal Rule of One for local police departments. The fact that the Legislature left intact Rule of One for local law enforcement indicates the Legislature did not intend to extend more discretion to municipalities otherwise it would have

done so expressly. The only statutory authority to validate alternative merit standards from the existing statutory requirement of Rule of One, has been Rule of Three codified in the Sheriff's Department standards. Rule of Three was the same standard adopted by Lakewood by Ordinance. Lakewood should have, at a minimum, been following the then controlling legislative authority including its own local ordinance that mandated Rule of Three to ensure merit promotions. In 2020, the Legislature amended the sheriff's department merit standards to Rule of Five, and again left intact Rule of One for local police departments.<sup>31</sup> The Legislature did not repeal merit standards for law enforcement, it imposed new ones. Whether Rule of One, Three, or Five, the chosen merit standard must in fact substantially accomplish merit promotions and prohibit favoritism. Where Rule of Five is used with a short list of eligible candidates without scrutiny for favoritism, Rule of Five does not substantially accomplish merit promotions. Rule of Five is not unassailable, but rather must be evaluated in the context in which in it is administered.

#### b. Merit Selection Standards A Legislative Function

Division II erred in its analysis where it held a Civil Service Commission may implement merit selection standards by rule. Merit

<sup>31</sup> RCW 41.14.130.

standards are within the legislature's purview.<sup>32</sup> Merit standards like Rule of One, Three, and Five are substantive standards, not procedural choices. Division II failed to recognize the distinction between procedural rulemaking and substantive lawmaking. Division II erroneously assumed Rule of Five was a procedure that unequivocally substantially accomplished merit selections. Rule of Five is one methodology that affords a Chief hiring discretion, but not too much where there is a long list of candidates like in Seattle. Lakewood's Council had the legal duty and legislative authority to bind the City to merit selection standards in fact, not just presumptively.<sup>33</sup> This included identifying the methods for achieving merit promotions like the breadth of discretion available to the Chief measured numerically and statistically plus oversight to prohibit impermissible decisions such as favoritism. Lakewood had no authority to delegate exclusive control to the Commission that could then disregard merit without meaningful oversight, which it did. In Seattle Police Officers Guild v. City of Seattle, the City Council codified the merit selection standard at issue.<sup>34</sup> Most cities codify its merit selection standards, and do not delegate the choice of standards to its Commission.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> "Designation of civil service certification procedures that accomplish the purpose of providing for promotion on the basis of merit is a legislative function..." *Seattle Police Officer's Guild*, 151 Wn. 2d 823, 837.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> RCW 41.12.010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Seattle Ordinance 107791, SMC 4.08.

Rule of Five was created by rule, not Ordinance, in Lakewood.

Procedural rules are not binding, nor enforceable in the same manner as ordinances.

Lakewood's Commission from its inception ignored merit selection standards.<sup>35</sup> In fact, Lakewood staffed its whole department without using Rule of Five.<sup>36</sup> It used Rule of All, allowing the Chief to pick his top leadership team from anyone he wanted.<sup>37</sup>

# c. Merit Standards Not Mandatory Subject of Collective Bargaining - Collective Bargaining Not Pre-emptive

Division II erred when holding Rule of Five is a promotional standard subject to mandatory collective bargaining. Division II cites to various cases where procedures were challenged as inherently unfair, but none of the cited authorities rule dispositively that the number of candidates from which a Chief may select must be bargained.<sup>38</sup> Certain substantive laws may not be delegated nor bargained away.<sup>39</sup> Merit selection standards like Rule of Five should not be subject to collective bargaining because the number alone may not achieve merit selection where the list of candidates is short. Thus, a city may not bargain for use

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> CP 857 (Vahe Dec.); CP 631 (Commission Meeting Minutes).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Op. 15-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> RCW 35A.11.020; 35A.21.040; *Lundborg v. Keystone Shipping Company*, 138 Wn. 2d 658, 981 P.2d 854 (1999)..

of Rule of Five, then use it rotely to defend its hiring as having merit, particularly where a City's blind adherence ignores blatant evidence of patronage hires or improper favoritism.

#### d. Nexus Between Rule of Five and 25%

Division II erred when deciding Rule of Five is an isolated criteria that ensures merit promotions. The courts have held that the legislature adopted a flexible approach for exempting cities from the state statutory Rule of One standard where a local municipality utilizes methods and techniques that substantially accomplish the purpose of civil service. Consideration of other factors like the percentage of eligible candidates provides corroborating proof that a city's hiring methods actually achieve merit promotions. Division II has incorrectly held that other considerations like percentages have no bearing on the validity of Rule of Five to achieve merit promotions.

#### CONFLICTING APPELLATE COURT CASES

# 3. Civil Servants Statutory Rights Judicially Enforceable

Division II erroneously concluded civil servants have no right to enforce the express statutory terms of their employment contract, citing three cases that do not support its legal conclusion: Wash. Fed'n of State

Op. 20-21, citing Local 404, International Ass'n of Fire Fighters v. City of Walla Walla, 90 Wn. 2d 828, 830, 586 P.2d 479 (1978), quoting Bellingham Firefighters, Local 106, City of Bellingham, 15 Wn. App. 662, 666, 551 P.2d 142 (1976).
 CP 826 (Vahle Dec).

Emps. v. State, 101 Wn.2d 536, 541-42, 682 P.2d 869 (1984); Weber v. Dep't of Corr., 78 Wn. App. 607, 610-11, 898 P.2d 345 (1995), and Greig v. Metzler, 33 Wn. App. 223, 230, 653 P.2d 1346 (1982). Greig was not a breach of contract case. It was an appeal from a judgment setting aside a Civil Service Commission ruling upholding the demotion of an officer. Greig is not controlling nor persuasive authority that Officer Vahle has no right to sue Lakewood for breaching the statutory terms of his employment contract. The other two cases are both breach of contract cases, but neither case controls the outcome of this case because in those two cases the employees brought contract claims on promises made outside the express statutory provisions of the employment agreement. The employees sought judicial relief to enforce non- Legislative contract terms. Here Officer Vahle seeks to enforce the express statutory terms of his employment contract that prohibits favoritism. Division II's holding is inconsistent with the case law holding employment is a contractual agreement where the express terms are enforceable under contract principles to include, promissory estoppel and declaratory relief.<sup>42</sup>

Division II strains to apply *Reninger v. DOC* to obligate Officer Vahle to exhaust administrative remedies prior to suing for breach of

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Arnett v. Kennedy, 416 U.S. 134, 94 S.Ct. 1633 (1974); Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co., 102 Wn. 2d 219, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984); McGuire v. State, 58 Wn. App. 195, 791 P.2d 929 (1990); Flower v. T.R.A. Industries, Inc., 127 Wn. App. 13, 111 P.3d 1192 (2005).

contract, promissory estoppel or negligence. Division II created an exhaustion requirement to petitioner's contract and tort claims in error. Where there is no clearly established mechanism for resolving a claim administratively, a petitioner is not required to exhaust administrative remedies.<sup>43</sup> Division II's opinion conflicts with *Baumgartner* where no administrative exhaustion requirement was needed before the DOC lieutenants sued DOC claiming salary misclassifications. Division II denies civil servants equal access to the courts for unsound reasons.

Even if there were an exhaustion requirement, Officer Vahle did what he could to exhaust administrative remedies. His efforts were futile. The Civil Service Board told Officer Vahle the Civil Service Board had no jurisdiction to hear his claims. He Council delegated authority back to the Commission and took no corrective action. Thus, he tried to exhaust his administrative remedies, and was assured he had none. Even so, he had no exhaustion obligation because there was no clearly articulated right to grieve the Chief's violations of merit standards in the context of a failure to promote, nor were there administrative remedies to provide the relief Officer Vahle was seeking, specifically past and future damages, non-economic losses including pain and suffering, and enforcement of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Baumgartner v. State Dept. of Corrections, 124 Wn. App. 738, 100 P.3d 827 (2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> CP 609 (Ltr. to Vahle).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Op. 8.

Rule of One or Three in future promotional decisions in accordance with state statute and local ordinance.

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