FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/28/2020 12:50 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Case No. 99264-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEREMY VAHLE,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

CITY OF LAKEWOOD,

Defendant/Respondent.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT CITY OF LAKEWOOD TO APPELLANT JEREMY VAHLE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael Bolasina, WSBA No. 19324 SUMMIT LAW GROUP PLLC 315 Fifth Avenue South, Suite 1000 Seattle, Washington 98104-2682 (206) 676-7000

Attorneys for Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENT

Appellant must demonstrate that one or more of the following factors are present for the Supreme Court to grant review:

(a) The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court; or

- (b) The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with another published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (c) The decision of the Court of Appeals involves a significant issue of federal or state constitutional law; or
- (d) The decision of the Court of Appeals involves an issue of substantial public interest.

RAP 13.4 Appellant argues that all of the four factors are satisfied.

Appellant's brief, however, reveals that none of the required factors is present that would justify the granting of review.

(a) The decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court.

Appellant cited no case law from the Washington Supreme Court that conflicts with the decision of the Court of Appeals. The only case that Appellant cited and discussed, *Seattle Police Officers Guild v. City of Seattle*, 151 Wn.2d 823, 92 P.3d 243 (2004), expressly approves of a municipality using the Rule of 5 for promotional decisions. In *Seattle Police Officers Guild*, plaintiffs challenged Seattle's use of the Rule of 5, independent of and combined with a percentage-based rule. In that case, candidates on the list were eligible to be selected for promotion if they were in "the top twenty-five (25) percent of the eligible register, or the top (5) candidates, whichever number is larger." Thus, if there were 100 candidates on the list, anyone in the top 25 could be chosen. If there were

10 candidates on the list, anyone in the top 5 could be chosen. The union and individual officers who had been passed over challenged Seattle's rule as failing to accomplish the purpose of RCW 41.12.

First, the Court affirmed the Court of Appeals' decision striking the portion of Seattle's rule allowing promotion of the top 25%. The Court of Appeals held:

Although *Walla Walla* did authorize a certain amount of discretion, it did not authorize unlimited discretion. Appellants cite to no authority that a rule of 25% substantially accomplishes the purposes of the state civil service law. Nor did any Washington city use a rule of percent prior to the enactment of the state civil service law. We therefore rely on the guidance of *Walla Walla* in finding no historical basis exists for allowing the possibility for such a noticeable increase in discretion.

Seattle Police Officers Guild v. City of Seattle, 113 Wn. App. 431, 439 (2002. The Court then endorsed the Rule of 5 for <u>all</u> municipal police departments. The Court stated:

Lastly, [plaintiff] asserts that if we find that the "rule of five" substantially accomplishes the purpose of chapter 41.12 RCW there will be no limit on an appointing authority's discretion. However, we do not make this decision without legislative guidance. As noted above, the legislature has determined that certification of "six or more names than there are vacancies to be filled" satisfies the purpose of ensuring that state appointing authorities promote on the basis of merit. RCW 41.06.150(2). Thus, we hold that *cities* will substantially accomplish the purpose of chapter 41.12 RCW so long as the established civil service system provides for appointment by certification of no greater than "six or

more names than there are vacancies to be filled.

Seattle Police Officers Guild, 151 Wn.2d at 836-837 (emphasis supplied.) The Court's holding expressly referenced all Washington cities, and not just Seattle. There are no subsequent decisions that overrule, distinguish, or limit the Court's decision in the Seattle Police Officers Guild case.

Appellant argues there is currently no legislative authority for Respondent to use the Rule of 5. This statement is incorrect on both the Respondent and State-wide levels. At the municipal level, Respondent's City Council adopted the Rule of 5 when it executed collective bargaining agreements between Respondent and the LPIG six times beginning in 2006. In each of these collective bargaining agreements, the Respondent's City Council agreed that Respondent would use the Rule of 5 called for in the Civil Service Commission's rules. At the State-wide level, the Washington State legislature, voting unanimously in favor of House Bill 1750 in 2020, replaced the Rule of 3 with the Rule of 5 for filling entry level and promotional positions in sheriff's departments. *See*, RCW 41.14.130.

Appellant claims that *Seattle Police Officers Guild* only approves use of the Rule of 5 when the scope of consideration involves fewer than 25% of the candidates on the eligibility list. According to Appellant, a municipality can only use the Rule of 5 when there are at least 20

candidates on the eligibility list. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Appellant's argument on the basis that there is no support for it to be found in Seattle Police Officers Guild or any other decision. In Seattle Police Officers Guild, the Court examined 12 different certification lists requested by the chief from the period of 1995-2000 to fill 86 promotional vacancies. 151 Wn.2d at 828. Each of these certification lists was based on the Rule of 5. *Id*. At no point did the Court examine the total percentage of certified names relative to those eligible for placement on the list. *Id.* If the Court was concerned about the percentage of names relative to total candidates eligible, the Court would have included such a limitation in its holding. It did not. Instead, the Court's rejection of the rule of 25% was based on a lack of any authority or history that justified a percentage-based rule. *Id.* at 839. What the Court clearly held is this: for municipal police departments, the Rule of 5 is acceptable and a percentage-based calculation allowing the top 25% is not. Contrary to what Appellant alleges, there is no interaction between the two tests.

Appellant implies that Respondent is too small of a police department to use the Rule of 5. There are approximately 250 city police departments in Washington State, and Respondent's police department (100 officers) is within the top 20 in size. CP 122 at ¶ 1. RCW 41.14.030 now specifies a Rule of 5 for recruitment and promotions in county

sheriff's departments. The population of Respondent (60,000) would place it in the middle of the population for Washington's 39 counties. If the Legislature is content with counties such as Garfield (population 2,000), Columbia (population 4,000) and Wahkiakum (population 4,500) using the Rule of 5, there is no reasonable argument that Respondent is too small to use the Rule of 5.

To be granted review on this factor, Appellant must demonstrate that the decision of the Court of Appeals contradicts a decision of the Washington Supreme Court. Instead, Appellant cited and discussed a decision of the Washington Supreme Court relied upon by the Court of Appeals because it is directly on point and controls the issues in this case.

(b) The decision of the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

The standard set forth in RAP 13.4 can be satisfied if the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with another published Court of Appeals decision, thereby creating a conflict to be resolved by the Supreme Court. Here, Appellant cites no published decisions of the Court of Appeals that the Court of Appeals did not follow. Instead, Appellant encourages the Court to overrule or distinguish the published decisions relied upon by the Court of Appeals to affirm the dismissal of Appellant's breach of contract, promissory estoppel, and negligence claims.

Regarding the breach of contract and promissory estoppel claims, the Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal based on legal and factual deficiencies in Appellant's case. In essence, Appellant claimed that Respondent breached a contract or violated a promise to promote him based on merit when he was not selected for promotion. The foundation of Appellant's argument, which is unsupportable given the Court's approval of the Rule of Five, is that promotions based on merit occur only when the Rule of One is used. According to Appellant, Respondent breach a contract or violated a promise when it passed over Appellant for any candidate with a higher number on the eligibility list.

In rejecting this argument, the Court of Appeals relied on published decisions that rejected both contract and promissory estoppel claims in the realm of public employment governed by the civil service process. The Court of Appeals stated:

Washington courts have consistently held that the terms and conditions of employment do not give rise to contractual rights. Wash. Fed'n of State Emps. v. State, 101 Wn.2d 536, 541-42, 682 P.2d 869 (1984); Weber v. Dep't of Corr., 78 Wn. App. 607, 610-11, 898 P.2d 345 (1995); Greig v. Metzler, 33 Wn. App. 223, 230, 653 P.2d 1346 (1982). Rather, civil service employment is grounded on a "statutorily-controlled employment relationship." Riccobono v. Pierce County, 92 Wn. App. 254, 263, 966 P.2d 327 (1998).

Decision at p. 25. The Court of Appeals then pointed out that the case that Appellant purports to rely on, *Seattle Police Officers Guild*, characterized

plaintiffs' contract claims as being insufficient to withstand summary judgment. Seattle Police Officers Guild, 151 Wn.2d at 839. Although Appellant criticized the Court of Appeals' reliance on the above cases, Appellant failed to cite a single published decision that rules in Appellant's favor and created a conflict necessary for the Court to grant his petition for review.

The Court of Appeals also affirmed the dismissal of Appellants' contractual claims as factually deficient. Here, Appellant argued that he was somehow misled by Respondent's use of the Rule of Five over the Rules of One or Rule of Three, even though Respondent used the Rule of Five consistently for filling all Civil Service protected positions since 2004. The Court of Appeals also recognized that Appellant failed to identify any contract provision or specific promise that he would receive a promotion simply because he had a lower number on the eligibility list.

Appellant also objects to the Court of Appeals' decision to affirm the dismissal of his negligence claim. Here, Appellant attempts to characterize Respondent's promotion of other candidates on the eligibility list as acts of negligence. The Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal of the negligence claim on two grounds. Citing *Riccobono v. Pierce County*, 92 Wn. App. 254, 966 P.2d 237 (1998), the Court of Appeals held that Appellant was required to utilize remedies set forth in the civil service

statutes and regulations before turning to the superior court for relief.

Appellant indisputably failed to do so. *Riccobono*, 92 Wn. App. at 264.

Appellant cited *Kirby v. City of Tacoma*, 124 Wn. App. 454, 98 P.3d 827 (2004), as support for his negligence claims. The Court of Appeals distinguished *Kirby* on the ground that the plaintiff in *Kirby*, unlike Appellant, sued for unlawful discrimination, which expressly allows for relief in the superior courts. The Court of Appeals saw no logical basis for overruling *Riccobono* and applying *Kirby* to Appellant's claim for negligence.

Second, the Court of Appeals held that Appellant offered no support for his theory that his being passed over for promotion could satisfy the four elements of a negligence claim: (a) legal duty, (b) breach of the duty, (c) injury resulting from the breach, and (d) proximate cause. Little v. Countrywood Homes, Inc., 132 Wn. App. 777, 133 P.3d 944 (2006). There was simply no basis for a negligent claim when Respondent could choose any candidate in the top 5 and did so, but did not choose Appellant. The Supreme Court and Court of Appeals have narrowly prescribed what claims are available to a candidate who was not selected from an eligibility list, and negligence is not one of them.

For this factor to be satisfied, Appellant must show that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with another published decision. Appellant

cited and discussed a number of published decisions, but always in the context of why those cases should be distinguished or overruled to grant him the relief he seeks. Appellant cites no truly conflicting authority because none exists.

(c) The Court of Appeals' decision does not involve a significant issue of federal or Washington State constitutional importance.

In his petition for review, Appellant raises for the first time First Amendment and Fourteenth Amendment issues. There are no federal or state constitutional issues raised in Appellant's complaint, or in Respondent's answer, or in the briefing before the Superior Court, or in the Court of Appeals' decision. In sum, there is nothing for this Court to review regarding constitutional issues, because no constitutional issues have been raised, discussed, or adjudicated at any time in connection with the case.

(d) The Court of Appeals' decision does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

Law enforcement's use of the Rule of Five for promotional decisions has been approved by the Supreme Court and, more recently, by the legislature in amending RCW 41.14.130. There have been no court decisions or legislative developments in the last 25 years that have undermined the legitimacy of the Rule of Five as a means of selecting among qualified candidates. Respondent submits that public interest in a

longstanding practice recently reinforced by the Legislature with a unanimous vote is minimal.

Here, Appellant is aggrieved because he was not selected for promotion when the other Top 5 candidates, all of whom either surpassed or were equivalent to Appellant in seniority and performance history, received promotions. In Appellant's opinion, he had the most merit and therefore he should have been promoted to sergeant. In essence, Appellant is asking the Court to substitute its judgment for Respondent's in determining who should have received promotions off an eligibility list. What Appellant presents here is a private dispute of interest only to the five employees on the eligibility list competing for the next promotional opportunity.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent requests that the Court deny Appellant's petition for review.